# S183365

S\_\_\_\_\_ A125472

#### IN THE

## SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

WALTER GREB, et al.,

Plaintiffs, Appellants, and Petitioners,

SUPREME COUDT CRC JUN - 8 20 8.25(b) Frederick K. Ohlrigh Slark

v

#### DIAMOND INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION,

Deputy

Defendant and Respondent.

AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE, NO. A125472; ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO, HONORABLE PETER J. BUSCH, JUDGE, NO. CGC-08-274989

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

TED W. PELLETIER (SBN 172938) Law Office of Ted W. Pelletier 22 Skyline Road San Anselmo, CA 94960 Tel: (415) 454-8783 tedpelletierlaw@comcast.net

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

1. Can a foreign (Delaware) corporation, whose defective product that it marketed in California causes and will continue to cause injuries to California citizens, escape liability for those yet-to-manifest injuries by dissolving itself and relying on a Delaware law that cuts off post-dissolution suits after three years—or does California law (Corporations Code section 2010) apply to this California case, allowing post-dissolution suits without time limitation?

## WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This petition presents both primary Rule 8.500 grounds for this Court's review—a direct conflict among published California appellate decisions on an important question of law: whether a foreign corporation, unlike a California corporation, can escape future liability for its past conduct (here subjecting California citizens to injuries that have not yet occurred or manifested) by simply dissolving itself.

Plaintiffs and petitioners Walter and Karen Greb¹ allege that defendant Diamond International Corporation ("Diamond"), a Delaware corporation, supplied asbestos-containing materials in the 1950s to 1970s to UC Davis, where Greb was exposed to asbestos. Opinion at 1; Joint Appendix on Appeal ("JA") 8-9. When Walter was diagnosed with terminal mesothelioma, he filed suit against Diamond (and others) on December 22, 2008. JA 1-25.

Walter was not alone—in the late 1990s into the 2000s, many victims of exposure to Diamond's asbestos were becoming sick and filing claims.<sup>2</sup> At the time, Diamond was not even conducting business, having had no operating assets or employees since 1987. But Diamond, facing a growing wave of suits, moved under Delaware law to dissolve itself effective July 1, 2005.

Walter died in September 2009, while the appeal below was pending. By order of the Court of Appeal, his wife Karen in October 2009 was "substituted as personal representative/successor in interest of Walter Greb." For brevity and consistency with the Opinion below, this Petition continues to refer to petitioners as Walter and Karen.

Reflecting Diamond's past business activity in Northern California, the San Francisco County Superior Court's web-based docket shows a steady increase this decade in suits filed against Diamond for asbestos exposure: from one in 2001 to four in 2003 and 2005 to six in 2007. See <a href="http://www.sfsuperiorcourt.org/index.aspx?page=467">http://www.sfsuperiorcourt.org/index.aspx?page=467</a> ("Name Search Query").

Then, when Greb sued Diamond just over three years later, Diamond demurred on the ground that the action is barred by Delaware law, under which "dissolved" corporations are "continued for [only] 3 years" as "bodies corporate for the purpose of prosecuting and defending suits." 8 Del. C. § 278; JA 31-41. Greb argued in opposition that this action is governed not by Delaware's three-year limit but by California Corporations Code section 2010, which places no time limit on suits against "dissolved" corporations. JA 73-76.

Diamond's demurrer presented, as the appellate court below put it, an extant "conflict in the Court of Appeal." Opinion at 8. Two published decisions from 1986 reached conflicting decisions on whether section 2010 applies to foreign corporations like Diamond:

- 1. North American Asbestos Corp. v. Superior Court (Young) (1986) 180 Cal.App.3d 902 ("North American II") holds that section 2010 "conflicts with, and prevails over, foreign corporation laws that limit survival periods of dissolved corporations." Opinion at 8; see North American II, 180 Cal.App.3d at 909-910.
- 2. Riley v. Fitzgerald (1986) 178 Cal.App.3d 871 ("Riley") holds that section 2010 "does not apply to foreign dissolved corporations." Opinion at 8; see Riley, 178 Cal.App.3d at 876-877.

That conflict is now reinforced by the Opinion below, which affirms the judgment on demurrer by following *Riley* (and rejecting *North American II*) to rule that Corporations Code section 2010 applies only to California corporations and thus provides no protection to California citizens injured by dissolved foreign corporations.

Thus, the Opinion below reinforces the lack of uniformity of decision in the Courts of Appeal, warranting this Court's review.

And review should be granted also because this appellate conflict involves an important question of law that will recur and that affects the rights of many California citizens. This is particularly true in cases involving asbestos injuries, which by their nature involve past conduct causing future injuries—a circumstance ripe for abuse by tortfeasors seeking to escape liability by dissolving. Indeed, just as to Diamond, more asbestos victims are becoming sick and filing suit each year.<sup>3</sup> And other asbestos defendants from states with post-dissolution suit limits (like Delaware) can likewise immunize themselves from future liability by dissolving.

But this is not just an asbestos-specific problem. Under the rationale of the Opinion below, any manufacturer of a defective product who is incorporated in Delaware (or a similar state) could dissolve to escape liability for injuries that will be caused by the product in the future.

California surely has a strong interest in protecting the rights of its citizens to be compensated when they are injured. And the Legislature has sought to protect those rights by imposing no time limits on lawsuits against dissolved corporations—if a corporation injures California citizens, it is responsible and cannot escape future liability by dissolving itself.

Hence, this petition presents both major criteria for obtaining this Court's review: a lack of uniformity among published appellate decisions on an important question of law that affects the rights of many California citizens and should be settled by this Court.

Petitioners respectfully request review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The San Francisco docket reflects five more suits against Diamond in the last three years. See <a href="http://www.sfsuperiorcourt.org/index.aspx?page=467">http://www.sfsuperiorcourt.org/index.aspx?page=467</a>.

#### **BACKGROUND**

#### Complaint

Walter Greb died of mesothelioma caused by exposure to asbestos. Opinion at 1. When he was diagnosed, Walter and his wife Karen Greb filed suit against (*inter alia*) respondent Diamond International Corporation ("Diamond"), alleging exposure to asbestos released from products manufactured by Diamond. *Id.*; JA 4-10.

#### Demurrer sustained

Diamond demurred to the complaint on the ground that Diamond "lacks the capacity to be sued" because Diamond "dissolved" as a Delaware corporation on July 1, 2005, and Delaware Corporations Code section 278 limits suits against dissolved corporations to only three years after dissolution. Opinion at 1-2; JA 36-38. Diamond argued that "Delaware law controls without conflict with California law," including California Corporations Code section 2010, California's "corporate survival statute," which does not temporally limit suits against dissolved corporations. Opinion at 2-3; JA 37-38.

Diamond acknowledged a "split of authority among the [California] appellate courts as to whether" section 2010 "applies to foreign corporations" like Diamond. JA 38:9-12. As Diamond noted, *Riley* held that section 2010 does not extend to foreign corporations, but *North American II* held that it does. JA 38-39; *see Riley*, 178 Cal.App.3d at 876-877; *North American II*, 180 Cal.App.3d at 909-910.

Greb opposed the demurrer, arguing that no real appellate-court conflict existed because *Riley* involved a potential suit brought <u>by</u> a dissolved foreign corporation, while *North American II* (like here) involved

a potential suit <u>against</u> a dissolved corporation—so that *North American II* governed and mandated that the demurrer be overruled. JA 73-76.

But the trial court agreed with Diamond, sustaining the demurrer. Opinion at 2; JA 114-116. The court ruled that *Riley* and *North American II* conflict and "ch[ose] to follow the reasoning" of *Riley*, ruling that section 2010 does not apply foreign corporations, so that Delaware law governs and bars plaintiffs' suit. JA 114-116. Accordingly, the trial court dismissed plaintiffs' claims against Diamond with prejudice. Opinion at 2; JA 118.

#### <u>Appeal</u>

On petitioners' appeal, the First Appellate District affirmed the judgment on demurrer. Opinion at 1. In an opinion filed April 26, 2010, the appellate court acknowledged the "conflict in the Court of Appeal" between *Riley* and *North American II. Id.* at 8-12. And the court agreed with the trial court (and *Riley*) that "section 2010 does not apply to foreign corporations." *Id.* at 12-15.

#### Finality of Opinion

The Opinion, filed April 26, became final in the Court of Appeal on May 26, 2010. Rule 8.264, subd. (b)(1).

No petition for rehearing was filed.

Petitioners timely file this Petition for Review, which must be filed within 10 days of May 26, i.e. Saturday June 5, which is extended to Monday, June 7, 2010. Rule 8.500, subd. (e)(1).

#### LEGAL DISCUSSION

I.

Review should be granted because the published Opinion below involves a lack of uniformity of decision on an important question of law that this Court should settle.

This petition warrants review of the Opinion below under both primary grounds for this Court's review:

- 1. Conflict in the Courts of Appeal: The Opinion presents a conflict among three published appellate decisions as to whether Corporations Code section 2010 applies to foreign corporations. The Opinion and *Riley* hold that it does not; *North American II* holds that it does. This Court should grant review to decide this issue and thus restore uniformity of decision. *See* Part A below.
- 2. **Important question of law:** Whether section 2010 applies to foreign corporations is also an important question of law that this Court should settle—the issue affects many California citizens and will continue to recur. *See* Part B below.

Finally, we also show briefly that the Opinion's reasoning for following *Riley* and rejecting *North American II* is suspect and should be scrutinized by this Court. *See* Part C below.

# A. Lack of uniformity of decision: The Opinion reinforces a split among the appellate courts.

This Court should grant review first because this case presents a lack of uniformity among the published appellate decisions: *Riley* and the Opinion below hold that Corporations Code section 2010 does not apply to foreign corporations; *North American II* holds to the contrary.

1. Corporations Code section 2010, applying to "corporations," does not expressly state whether that term includes foreign corporations.

Petitioners ask this Court to grant review to determine whether Corporations Code section 2010, allowing suits against dissolved "corporations" without temporal limitation, applies to foreign (and not just California) corporations.

Section 2010 itself does not specify the breadth of its use of the term "corporation":

A corporation which is dissolved nevertheless continues to exist for the purpose of winding up its affairs, prosecuting and defending actions by or against it . . . .

Corps. Code § 2010, subd. (a).

Hence, the appellate courts have sought to construe whether section 2010's use of "corporation" includes foreign corporations—with conflicting results.

2. North American II: Section 2010 must apply to foreign corporations because otherwise those corporations would be treated more favorably than domestic corporations.

In 1986, the appellate court in *North American II* held that Corporations Code section 2010 applies to both foreign and domestic corporations. *North American II*, 180 Cal.App.3d at 908; *see* Opinion at 9.

North American II acknowledged that section 2010 does not specify whether "corporation" is limited and thus construed the section in light of the entire Corporations Code and California constitutional law. *Id.* at 907-908. For the court, the "key to interpreting section 2010" was former Article XII, section 15 of the California constitution, which provided that foreign

corporations shall not transact business in California under "more favorable conditions" than those applied to domestic corporations:

No corporation organized outside the limits of this State shall be allowed to transact business within this State on more favorable conditions than are prescribed by law to similar corporations organized under the laws of this State.

Because this constitutional provision was in effect when the original version of section 2010 was enacted, it clearly applied—and mandated interpretation of that section as applying to <u>all</u> corporations. Otherwise, foreign corporations would operate in more "favorable conditions," able to escape liability for past conduct by dissolving. *See North American II*, 180 Cal.App.3d at 908.

And although the constitutional provision was repealed in 1972, it was repealed as "obsolete and unnecessary" because other constitutional and statutory provisions assured "[e]qual treatment of foreign and domestic corporations." *Id.* at 909. Thus, the repeal was a "housekeeping measure" that effected "no change in law or policy." *Id.* 

Accordingly, *North American II* held that section 2010 applies to foreign and domestic corporations. 

Id. at 910. Because California law thus conflicted with the law of the defendant's state of incorporation (Illinois, with a two-year limit on post-dissolution suits), *North American II* applied standard choice-of-law analysis, concluding that California law governs because "California's interests would be more impaired by application of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In so holding, the *North American II* court reversed its own earlier holding in *North American Asbestos Corp. v. Superior Court* (1982) 128 Cal.App.3d 138 ("*North American I*"), in which the court had not considered the effect of California's constitutional provisions mandating equal treatment of foreign and domestic corporations.

Illinois law than would Illinois' interests by application of California law."<sup>5</sup> *Id.* at 905, 907.

This Court has cited the holding of *North American II* with at least tacit approval. In *Peñasquitos, Inc. v. Superior Court (Barbee)* (1991) 53 Cal.3d 1180, this Court held that section 2010 allows suits against dissolved corporations whether the suits are filed before or after dissolution. In reaching that conclusion, this Court discussed *North American II* at length, specifically reciting that case's holding that section 2010 "is not limited to dissolved California corporations, but also applies to dissolved foreign corporations." *Id.* at 1187-1188. And again this year, this Court cited *North American II* as the governing law in California, which this Court described as "holding" that "California law [is] applicable when the plaintiff was exposed to asbestos in California by a company incorporated in another state, where plaintiff's action against the company would have been barred as untimely under the other state's law." *McCann v. Foster Wheeler LLC* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 68, 101.

# 3. Riley: Section 2010 applies only to domestic corporations.

Also in 1986, another appellate court held, contrary to *North American II*, that section 2010 does not apply to foreign corporations. *See Riley*, 178 Cal.App.3d at 876-877.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Here, petitioners have argued that the same choice-of-law analysis applies—*i.e.*, that here California law prevails over Delaware law under the governmental-interest analysis. See Appellant's Opening Brief on Appeal ("AOB") at 21-25; cf. Respondent's Brief on Appeal ("RB") at 42-44 (arguing the contrary). But the Opinion below did not reach this question, finding no conflict of law based on its holding that California's section 2010 does not apply to Delaware corporations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> As discussed further in Part I.C below, the Opinion below discarded this Court's tacit approval of *North American II* in *Peñasquitos* and *McCann* as "dicta" that the appellate court was "not bound to follow." Opinion at 12.

Unlike *North American II*, which involved a suit against a dissolved corporation, *Riley* involved a post-dissolution suit <u>by</u> the corporation. Despite this distinction, *Riley* held that section 2010 does not extend to foreign corporations, whether suing or being sued. *Id*.

Riley did not consider the effect of the California Constitution on the interpretation of section 2010, as North American II did. Indeed, because Riley was filed two months before North American II, Riley relied expressly on the earlier analysis in North American I (id. at 876)—analysis that the North American II court would soon disavow.

# 4. The Opinion below acknowledges the extant conflict and follows *Riley*.

The Opinion below acknowledges that *North American II* and *Riley* constitute an extant "conflict in the Court of Appeal" on the issue of whether section 2010 "appl[ies] to foreign dissolved corporations." Opinion at 8.

The Opinion first sets forth the analyses of the two earlier decisions. Opinion at 9-10. The Opinion then criticizes *North American II* as resting on "somewhat convoluted reasoning." *Id.* at 9. And the Opinion finds it "[i]mportant" that *North American II* "did not acknowledge the conflicting case of *Riley*." *Id.* at 10.

But the Opinion does not acknowledge that because *Riley* had itself rested on the earlier decision in *North American I*, the *North American II* court's repudiation of its earlier decision made discussion of *Riley* unnecessary.

In sum, the Opinion below reinforces that there is a "lack of uniformity of decision" on whether section 2010 applies to foreign corporations.

Trial courts facing this issue will be confronted with two different analytical approaches and will not know how to rule.

This Court should grant review to decide this issue and provide stability and guidance to the California courts.

# B. Important question of law: Whether foreign corporations can escape California liability by dissolving is an important issue that affects many Californians and will recur.

This Court should grant review also because the Opinion below presents an important question of law that should be settled by this Court.

Specifically, the issue of a foreign corporation's post-dissolution liability for pre-dissolution misconduct affects many California citizens and is sure to recur. This issue will arise anytime a defendant's present conduct remains susceptible of causing injuries in the future—any defendant (from a state that limits post-dissolution liability) who is anticipating future liability can avoid or limit it by dissolving.

Asbestos cases like this one are typical. Because asbestos diseases are latent, manifesting years or even decades after asbestos exposure, defendants who contributed to causing asbestos exposures can readily anticipate future liability. If such a defendant is incorporated in a state (like Delaware) with a temporal limit on post-dissolution suits, the Opinion below allows the defendant to escape its liability by dissolving.

Indeed, that appears to be just what Diamond is trying to do here. As noted above, Diamond moved to dissolve itself effective 2005—as California lawsuits against it had increased, with more on the horizon.

Moreover, although asbestos cases are typical, this is not just an asbestos-specific problem. For example, the same issue will arise with any

manufacturer of a defective product that is anticipated to cause injuries in the future—e.g., a product that was widely distributed and that the defendant learns has a dangerous defect. Such a manufacturer (in Delaware, etc.), instead of taking steps to prevent any future injuries (such as by a product recall), could reasonably choose to dissolve, knowing that it would soon cut off any future liability.

That result may be the legislative choice in other states (like Delaware) that place a premium on the protection of corporate interests.

But it is not the policy of California. Our Legislature has instead placed a premium on protecting its citizens, including by placing no temporal limits on post-dissolution suits against culpable corporate actors.

This Court should advance California's legislative policy by granting review to consider and settle this important question of law.

# C. The Opinion's rationale is suspect and should be scrutinized by this Court.

Finally, this Court should grant review because the Opinion's various rationales for following *Riley* (and rejecting *North American II*) are suspect—so that a reversal on the merits is likely.

- 1. The Opinion is wrong to criticize *North American II* for failing to "acknowledge" *Riley*. Opinion at 10. As noted above, *Riley* rested on *North American I*. Thus, when the *North American II* court reversed itself, it did not need to address *Riley* or any other case that had followed its earlier rationale.
- 2. The Opinion fails to refute *North American II*'s discussion of the effect of the constitutional guarantee of equal treatment of foreign and domestic corporations. The Opinion does call the discussion "somewhat

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