S183365 Appeal No. A125472



In the

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA Deputy

WALTER GREB, et al.,

Plaintiffs, Appellants and Petitioners,

VS.

DIAMOND INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION,

Defendant and Respondent.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE, APPEAL NO. A125472; ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO, THE HONORABLE PETER J. BUSÇH, JUDGE PRESIDING, CASE NO. CGC-08-274989

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Maria A. Starn (SBN 235724) Scott L. Hengesbach (SBN 146731 MURCHISON & CUMMING, LLP 801 South Grand Avenue, 9th Floor Los Angeles, California 90017

INTRODUCTION

Writ review is not appropriate in this case as the weight of authority is decidedly in Respondent's favor. Relying on well-settled legal precedent, the underlying Opinion concludes, as did two appellate courts before it, that California's corporate survival statute for dissolved corporations, Corporations Code § 2010, does <u>not</u> apply to foreign corporations such as Respondent.

In an attempt to manufacture proper grounds for review, Petitioners mischaracterize decisional law concerning the applicability of Corporations Code § 2010 to foreign corporations as "split." To the contrary, in analyzing this specific issue, as well as the general applicability of California Corporations Code to foreign corporations, California courts have consistently held that the provisions of California's Corporations Code apply only to domestic corporations, unless explicitly made applicable to foreign corporations. In the face of this consistent application of the law, Petitioners premise their contention that a split of authority exists on a now disfavored opinion:

North American Asbestos Corporation v. Superior Court (Young), 180

Cal.App.3d 902 (1986) ("North American II"). North American II is unpersuasive, contradicted by well-settled precedent, and has not been followed, not even by the First District Court of Appeal (from which the decision came).

Although Respondent does not perceive North American II as a significant threat to securing uniformity of decision, should this Court grant review, the issue presented should be restated in compliance with the requirement that the petition begin with a "concise, nonargumentative statement of the issues presented for review, framing them in terms of the facts of the case but without unnecessary detail." Cal. R. Ct 8.504(b)(1).

In a thinly-veiled attempt to cast Respondent in a negative light, Petitioners frame the issue as one involving a deceptive foreign corporation that attempts to escape liability for its defective products by incorporating and dissolving under favorable foreign laws. There is absolutely no factual basis for Petitioners' bald assertion that Respondent incorporated and dissolved under Delaware law in order to deceive California citizens and shield itself from liability. Moreover, whether arising out of a misapprehension of the law or an intentional attempt to obfuscate the issue, Petitioners improperly combine multiple

issues into one.

In asking this Court to decide whether California or Delaware law applies on the facts of this case, Petitioners invoke basic choice-of-law principles. The threshold inquiry in any such analysis is whether a "true" conflict of law exists. Thus, in the event that review is granted, the initial issue for this Court to decide is whether California Corporations Code § 2010 applies to dissolved foreign corporations.

If California Corporations Code § 2010 does not apply to foreign corporations, no true conflict between California and Delaware law exists, and there is no need to resort to a comparative interests analysis. Norwest Mortgage, Inc. v. Conley, 72 Cal.App.4th 214, 228 (1999) (if California law cannot be applied, there is no occasion for applying choice-of-law rules). Petitioners' issue presented clouds the threshold inquiry by repeatedly referencing one-sided policy interests and other considerations that purportedly favor applying California law. The entire Petition is plagued with references to California's "strong interest in protecting the rights of its citizens" without any analysis of, or deference to, the threshold issue of whether California Corporations Code § 2010 applies to foreign corporations in the first place. If, and only if, the threshold question is answered in the affirmative, is a

comparative interest analysis triggered to determine which state's interest would be more impaired if its policy were subordinated to that of the other state. Bernhard v. Harrah's Club, 16 Cal.3d 313, 320 (1976) (once a true conflict has been identified, the comparative impairment approach is utilized to determine which state's interest would be more impaired if its policy were subordinated to the policy of the other state). Since an evaluation of the competing state interests only comes into play *if* California Corporations Code § 2010 applies to foreign corporations, Petitioners' approach errs.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that this Court grants review, the threshold issue of whether California Corporations Code § 2010 applies to foreign corporations should be separately delineated in accord with well-settled choice-of-law principles.

II.

BACKGROUND

On December 22, 2008, Petitioners, Walter Greb and Karen Greb, initiated this action against multiple parties, including Respondent, Diamond International Corporation ("Diamond"), for personal injuries and damages resulting from alleged exposure to asbestos.

Generally, the complaint alleges that each of the corporate defendants, including Respondent, "were and are corporations organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of California, or the laws of some other state or foreign jurisdiction...." (JA 4-5, ¶ 3.) In fact, Respondent is a dissolved Delaware corporation. (JA 43-49.) Diamond was dissolved pursuant to and in accordance with the laws of Delaware on July 1, 2005. <u>Id</u>.

Under the laws of Delaware governing the dissolution of its corporations, a dissolved corporation shall continue to exist for a period of only three (3) years from the date of dissolution for the limited purpose of winding up its affairs, including prosecuting and defending lawsuits. 8 Delaware Code § 278. Thereafter, the dissolved corporation lacks the capacity to sue and be sued. <u>Id</u>. In the instant case, because

Petitioners filed their lawsuit more than three years after Respondent's dissolution, their claim is barred.

Invoking Delaware law, on or about February 13, 2009, Respondent demurred to Petitioners' complaint on the ground that Respondent lacked the capacity to be sued. (JA 31-42.) Relying, in part, on the decision in Riley v. Fitzgerald, 178 Cal.App.3d 871 (1986), the trial court sustained Respondent's demurrer without leave to amend.

Petitioners subsequently appealed the order and judgment of dismissal in favor of Respondent. Then, after the matter had been fully briefed, on November 17, 2009, Petitioners filed a Notice of Dismissal of their appeal. Given the significant impact a decision on the merits would have on pending and future lawsuits against Diamond, Respondent asked that the Court rule on the merits of the appeal despite Appellant's dismissal. The Court agreed and following oral argument, on April 26, 2010, the Opinion of the Appellate Court, affirming the Trial Court's order sustaining Respondent's demurrer and entering an order of dismissal in favor of Respondent, was certified for publication. On May 26, 2010, the Opinion became final.

Petitioners now seek review.

III.

LEGAL DISCUSSION

A. The Law is Settled and the Weight of Authority is Decidedly in Respondent's Favor.

Petitioners assert that the Opinion reinforces a split of authority in the appellate courts. To the contrary, the Opinion follows well-settled precedent and evinces the clear majority view. Sig nificantly, North American Asbestos Corp. v. Superior Court, 128 Cal.App.3d 138 (1982) (North American I), Riley v. Fitzgerald, 178 Cal.App.3d 871, 876 (1986), and the underlying Opinion uniformly conclude that California Corporations Code § 2010 does not apply to suits against foreign corporations such as Diamond. As first addressed in North American I, the court concluded that:

"From a reading of the Corporations

Code generally, we conclude that it does not apply to foreign corporations which have dissolved. Corporations Code section 102

provides that with certain exceptions not provisions of applicable here the the Corporations Code apply only to domestic corporations and that application to other corporations is permitted only "to the extent expressly included in a particular provision of this division." Section 2010 is in chapter 20 of 1, which is entitled "General division Provisions Relating to Dissolution." Nowhere is there any mention that the provisions of that chapter or of section 2010 apply to foreign Foreign corporations are the corporations. subject of the entire next chapter, chapter 21." North American I, supra, 128 Cal.App.3d at 144.

Likewise, <u>Riley</u> and <u>Greb</u> hold that a plain reading of California's Corporations Code, including sections 102, 162 and 2115, makes it clear that section 2010 does not apply to foreign corporations.

North American II stands alone as the disfavored minority view in conflict with the foregoing authorities. Petitioners' attempt to find support for the North American II decision in Penasquitos, Inc. v. Superior Court, 53 Cal.3d 1180 (1991) and McCann v. Foster Wheeler LLC, 48 Cal.4th 68 (2010), is not only misleading but simply incorrect. Both cases make only a passing reference to North America II and neither one of them discusses or even references application of Corporations Code § 2010 to foreign corporations. As correctly concluded in the Opinion, the reference to North American II in both Penasquitos and McCann is dicta only. Opinion at 12. "As the facts of Peñasquitos did not involve a foreign corporation, the court's discussion of North American II is dicta only, which we are not bound to follow. [citations] This court also makes a similar observation of the reference to North American II in the recent case of McCann v. Foster Wheeler LLC, 48 Cal.4th 68, 101 (2010)." Id.

Accordingly, this Court should deny review for the simple reason that the Opinion is supported by well-settled precedent and represents the overwhelming weight of authority.

1. It is settled that the effect of dissolution is governed by the state of incorporation.

In sharp contrast to Petitioners' contention that California law governs the effect of Respondent's dissolution in Delaware, it is settled in both California and Delaware that the state of incorporation dictates the effect of corporate dissolution and/or extinguishment. Riley, supra, 178 Cal.App.3d at 876. In California, "[i]t appears to be settled law that the effect of the dissolution of a corporation, or its expiration otherwise, depends upon the law of its domicile." Thatcher v. City Terrace Cultural Center, 181 Cal.App.2d 433, 440-441 (1960); Fidelity Metals Corp. v. Risley, 77 Cal.App.2d 377, 381 (1946). Likewise, in Delaware, "the existence or nonexistence of a Delaware corporation is governed by Delaware law." Akande v. Transamerica Airlines, Inc. (In re Transamerica Airlines, Inc.), 2007 Del.Ch. LEXIS 68 (Del. Ch. May 25, 2007).

Petitioners make no attempt to reconcile this well-settled principle with their conflicting and illogical contention that California law governs the dissolution of a Delaware corporation.

2. It is settled that the provisions of California Corporations Code apply only to domestic corporations unless foreign corporations are explicitly included.

The Opinion finds unanimous support in case precedent determining the applicability of certain other provisions of the California Corporations Code to foreign corporations.

As clearly articulated at California Corporations Code § 101, the general provisions and definitions govern the construction of California's General Corporation Law. Significantly, California Corporations Code § 102(a) provides that, with certain specified exceptions, the Corporations Code applies only to domestic corporations. Riley, supra, 178 Cal.App.3d 871. Likewise, California Corporations Code § 162 provides: "Corporation unless otherwise expressly provided, refers only to a corporation organized under this division or a corporation subject to this division under the provisions of subdivision (a) of Section 102."

Giving effect to these definitional provisions, it has been uniformly recognized that the provisions of California's General

Corporate Law only apply to foreign corporations when explicitly included in a particular provision. Ballantine & Sterling, Cal. Corporation Laws (4th ed. 2010) ch. 18, § 389.01 ("The General Corporation Law only applies to foreign corporations when its provisions expressly so provide"); see also, Pratt v. Robert S. Odell & Co., 49 Cal.App.2d 550, 560 (1942) ("Section 366 makes no reference to foreign corporations, [thus], the liability of a director or a corporation for a violation of official duty may be enforced in this state, but according to the laws of the state of incorporation"); Cooke v. Odell, 59 Cal.App.2d 820 (1943) (that a foreign corporation failed to comply with section 358 was of no value in determining fraud on its part because the obligations imposed by section 358 do not specifically refer to foreign corporations); Chapman v. Title Guarantee & Trust Co., 25 Cal.App.2d 567, 573 (1938) (Civil Code § 293 was held inapplicable to foreign corporations when construed in conjunction with Civil Code § 278 (the predecessor to California Corporations Code § 162) which specifically declares that the term "corporation" as it is used in that part of the code "unless otherwise expressly provided, refers only to a domestic corporation").

Likewise, Corporations Code § 2010, which omits any reference to "foreign" corporations, must be read as applying only to domestic

corporations and excluding from its reach foreign corporations which have dissolved. Hereto, Petitioners fail to reconcile their contention with this well-settled authority.

3. There is no ambiguity as to the scope of California Corporations Code § 2010.

Petitioners' further contend that California Corporations Code § 2010 is not clear on its face. In so stating, Petitioners turn a blind eye to other provisions in the Corporations Code which unambiguously establish the scope of section 2010. As noted above, the general provisions and definitions govern the construction of California's General Corporate Law, including California Corporations Code § 2010. Cal. Corp. Code § 101; Faulder v. Mendocino County Bd. of Supervisors, 144 Cal.App.4th 1362, 1370 (2006) (when attempting to resolve conflicting constructions of a statute, the analysis shall begin by "examining the statutes words, giving them a plain and commonsense meaning" and harmonizing these words with other provisions relating to the same subject matter).

Any question regarding the applicability of section 2010 to foreign corporations is eliminated by reference to sections 102 and 162. When read together, these provisions make it crystal clear that section 2010, which omits any reference to foreign corporations, applies only to domestic corporations. Accordingly, it should come as no surprise that Petitioners fail to analyze these interrelated provisions and offer a plausible explanation why their interpretation of section 2010 would not render sections 102 and 162 completely meaningless. This is the primary reason why North American II has become disfavored.

B. Petitioners' Reliance on North American II is Misplaced.

Ignoring the clear language of California's Corporation Code, Petitioners rely exclusively upon extrinsic evidence in an effort to interpret the intent of the Legislature in enacting California Corporations Code § 2010. In properly rejecting this analysis, the Opinion notes the well established rule that legislative intent should not be resorted to where a statute is clear on its face. Quoting Arnett v. Dal Cielo, 14 Cal. 4th 4, 24 (1996), it is stated that "[i]n determining legislative intent, courts look first to the words of the statute itself: if those words have a

well-established meaning, as we hold they do here, there is no need for construction and courts should not indulge it." Opinion at 10.

The repealed constitutional provision relied upon by Petitioners stated that "no corporation organized outside the limits of this State shall be allowed to transact business within this State on more favorable conditions than are prescribed by law to similar corporations organized under the laws of this State." Article XII, section 15 of the California Constitution (repealed in 1972).

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